Democratic Services Riverside, Temple Street, Keynsham, Bristol BS31 1LA Telephone: (01225) 477000 *main switchboard* Direct Lines - Tel: 01225 394458 Web-site - <u>http://www.bathnes.gov.uk</u> Your ref: Our ref: Date: 31st October 2011 E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk

To: All Members of the Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel

Councillor Marie Longstaff Councillor Caroline Roberts Councillor Malcolm Hanney Councillor Geoff Ward Councillor Neil Butters Councillor David Martin Councillor Douglas Nicol

Chief Executive and other appropriate officers Press and Public

Dear Member

Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel: Tuesday, 8th November, 2011

You are invited to attend a meeting of the **Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel**, to be held on **Tuesday, 8th November, 2011** at **2.00 pm** in the **Council Chamber - Guildhall, Bath.**

The agenda is set out overleaf.

Yours sincerely

Mark Durnford for Chief Executive

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author whose details are listed at the end of each report.

This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper

NOTES:

- 1. Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact Mark Durnford who is available by telephoning Bath 01225 394458 or by calling at The Guildhall, Bath (during normal office hours).
- 2. Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to make their views known at meetings. They may make a statement relevant to what the meeting has power to do. They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a group. Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays notice must be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday)

The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday). If an answer cannot be prepared in time for the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further details of the scheme can be obtained by contacting Mark Durnford as above.

3. Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for the next meeting. In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting Mark Durnford as above.

Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:-

Public Access points - Riverside - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, Hollies - Midsomer Norton, and Bath Central, Keynsham and Midsomer Norton public libraries.

For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms.

- 4. Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the meeting.
- 5. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM NUMBER.

6. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point. The designated exits are sign-posted.

Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people.

Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel - Tuesday, 8th November, 2011

at 2.00 pm in the Council Chamber - Guildhall, Bath

AGENDA

- 1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS
- 2. EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Chair will draw attention to the emergency evacuation procedure as set out under Note 6.

- 3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS
- 4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

Members who have an interest to declare are asked to:

- a) State the Item Number in which they have the interest
- b) The nature of the interest
- c) Whether the interest is personal, or personal and prejudicial

Any Member who is unsure about the above should seek advice from the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting in order to expedite matters at the meeting itself.

- 5. TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN
- 6. ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF THIS MEETING

At the time of publication no notifications had been received.

7. MINUTES - 13TH SEPTEMBER 2011 (Pages 7 - 16)

8. CABINET MEMBER UPDATE

This item gives the Panel an opportunity to ask questions to the Cabinet Members and for them to update the Panel on any current issues.

9. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY UPDATE

The Policy & Environment Manager will give the Panel a verbal update in relation to this item.

10. GYPSIES, TRAVELLERS AND TRAVELLING SHOWPEOPLE SITE ALLOCATIONS DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT (DPD): ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION PAPER AND 'CALL FOR SITES' (Pages 17 - 44)

The Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) is a formal planning document prepared by the Council which allocates land for the development of authorised Gypsy and Traveller pitches across the District. The Issues and Options paper seeks public comment on how sites should be allocated for development as Gypsy and Traveller pitches or Travelling Showpeople yards. The Call for Sites seeks information on potential land for allocation.

11. LOCAL SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT FUND

The Transportation Planning Manager will give a presentation on this item to the Panel.

12. PANEL WORKPLAN (Pages 45 - 52)

This report presents the latest workplan for the Panel (Appendix 1).

The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Mark Durnford who can be contacted on 01225 394458.

15

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL

PLANNING, TRANSPORT AND ENVIRONMENT POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY PANEL

Tuesday, 13th September, 2011

Present:- Councillors Marie Longstaff (Chair), Caroline Roberts (Vice-Chair), Malcolm Hanney, Neil Butters, David Martin, Douglas Nicol and Anthony Clarke (In place of Geoff Ward)

Also in attendance: Glen Chipp (Strategic Director for Service Delivery), Kate Hobson (Waste Management Officer), Matthew Smith (Divisional Director for Environmental Services), David Trigwell (Divisional Director for Planning and Transport), Adrian Clarke (Transportation Planning Manager), Peter Dawson (Planning Policy & Transport Group Manager), Andy Strong (Public Transport Team Leader) and John Crowther (Neighbourhood Services Manager)

Councillor Tim Ball – Cabinet Member for Homes & Planning Councillor Roger Symonds – Cabinet Member for Transport

15 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting.

16 EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Chairman drew attention to the emergency evacuation procedure.

17 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

Councillor Geoff Ward sent his apologies to the Panel. He was substituted at the meeting by Councillor Anthony Clarke.

18 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

There were none.

19 TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN

There was none.

20 ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF THIS MEETING

Councillor Eleanor Jackson addressed the Panel, a summary of her statement is set out below and a full copy can be found on the Panel's Minute Book.

She said that dealing with B&NES Council seems to be like standing on a sandcastle as the tide inexorably rolls up the beach, you dig as hard as you can to defend one side while another side crumbles away. She stated that she was greatly concerned about the bus services to Radstock and the amount of heavy traffic because of the ill conceived Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) which will result in two way traffic in The Street.

She added that Don Morris, CEO of RADCO had also contacted her to complain about the loss of takings.

She concluded by calling upon the Panel to ask the current administration about their failure to respect the principles of the Localism Bill as local people in their hundreds had objected and signed the petition against the road scheme.

Amanda Leon addressed the Panel on behalf of the Radstock Action Group, a summary of her statement is set out below and a full copy can be found on the Panel's Minute Book.

She wished to draw their attention to what she felt were the undemocratic and unprofessional practices of the Council's approach to the many planning applications and associated papers relating to the Norton Radstock Regeneration project.

She called for steps to be taken to reverse recent decisions which are apparently being driven by a set of undisclosed objectives at odds with democracy and transparency.

- The proposal to divert the A362 through the town centre has been taken out of the original planning application and is now being dealt with under the powers B&NES has as Highways Authority. This allegedly permits the road scheme to be started prior to any final decisions being made on the development plans for Radstock.
- Additionally, it apparently gives the authority the right to assume financial responsibility for a scheme in which the developer was identified as being responsible for paying for road changes.
- An application from the current would-be developer and the NRR requests renewal of the previous planning application. We believe that renewal applications can be new planning applications in disguise and that original aims and permissions may be modified and subverted by subsequent follow ups and may, therefore, be at odds with the strategic objectives that governed earlier decisions.

 B&NES, whether acting in its capacity as a highways authority, a unitary planning authority, an environmental enforcement agency or other, has a responsibility to adopt transparent consultation procedures. It has an overriding responsibility to reflect the needs and aspirations of the electorate to whom it is accountable. We have found it increasingly difficult to obtain any information as to who is in overall control of the planning situation in its many forms in Radstock, with officers and elected councillors giving opposing views and interpretations of what is going on.

She urged the panel to step in to ensure that planning processes are not brought into disrepute and that public confidence can be restored in all areas of consultation.

The Chairman asked for the statement to be passed to the Director of Development & Major Projects and the Divisional Director for Planning and Transport for them to respond.

21 MINUTES - 26TH JULY 2011

The Panel confirmed the minutes of the previous meeting as a true record following an amendment from Councillor David Martin. He requested that a question of his in relation to Item 10 (Food Waste Recycling Collections Update) be included.

The question was as follows 'is there any possibility of using anaerobic digestion for food waste treatment in the future?' The Waste Services Manager replied that it was one option they may well seek further information on.

This amendment was agreed by the Panel and the minutes were duly signed by the Chairman.

22 DRAFT BATH PARKING STRATEGY

The Transportation Planning Manager gave a presentation to the Panel in relation to this item, a full copy of which is on the Panel's Minute Book. A summary is set out below.

Aims:

- » Improve quality of life
- » Reduce need to travel into city centre by car
- » Consistent with JLTP3, Sustainable Community Strategy, Core Strategy

Objectives:

- » Manage travel demand
- » Sustain and enhance the local economy
- » Provide a balance between good public transport and short stay parking

Parking Standards:

- » Local Plan Parking Standards
- » Development will only be permitted if an appropriate level of on-site servicing is provided having regard to:
 - » Maximum parking standards
 - » Proposed use
 - » Environmental capacity
 - » Accessibility by sustainable transport
 - » Availability of parking nearby

Off Street Parking:

- » Long Stay Park and Ride providing for future economic growth (4,000+) jobs in Bath City Riverside by 2026)
- » Medium/Short Stay City Centre maintained at existing levels

Other issues considered:

- » Business permits
- » Disabled parking
- » Parking standards
- » Management and enforcement

He informed the Panel that the strategy sits within the Joint Local Transport Plan 3 (JLTP3) which the Council has adopted and that a progress report on the JLTP3 will be published on September 22nd. He added that he believed the public were changing their transport behaviour and that investment was being made to support cycling and public transport.

Councillor Malcolm Hanney commented that he felt the report was more a position statement and lacked any sense of a business plan. He also asked for it to be more explicit on the future of the Council car parks.

Councillor Douglas Nicol commented that the charges in relation to Park & Ride (£3) were quite high when compared with a vehicle carrying four people choosing to park in the city centre.

The Chairman asked if a car share scheme could be devised as incentive to encourage more people to use the Park & Ride.

The Transportation Planning Manager replied that that is being considered as part of the overall strategy to reduce the number of cars on the road.

Councillor Caroline Roberts asked if the Council monitors the number of vacant Disabled Parking spaces there are during the day.

The Transportation Planning Manager replied that yes, there is an intention to carry out such a study.

Councillor Neil Butters commented that he broadly welcomed the report and believed the strategy would evolve over time through discussions with First Group. He also wished to highlight the work of the Wellow Community Bus and called for rail electrification to be progressed, with the services to Oldfield Park and Keynsham in much need of improvement.

Councillor David Martin asked if the Council had plans to install any electric vehicle charging points.

The Transportation Planning Manager replied that a proposal had been included in a bid to the Sustainable Transport Fund.

Councillor David Martin asked if the Council had considered the possibility of introducing workplace parking charges.

The Transportation Planning Manager replied that the Council currently had no such plans, but said he was aware that both Bristol and Nottingham Council were considering that as an option to aid their future transport proposals.

Councillor Caroline Roberts commented that as the Park & Ride was primarily used by commuters she felt the pricing structure fairly reflected that and there was no real need to change it. She also asked for the current timescale of the strategy.

The Transportation Planning Manager replied that parking surveys were due to be carried in October / November 2011 and he therefore proposed to bring a further draft of the strategy to a subsequent meeting of the Panel.

The Chairman asked for the report to include information on a Park & Ride to the East of Bath, timescales of the strategy, survey results and content on how the modal shift will be made.

Councillor Malcolm Hanney asked for a comprehensive financial / business plan to also be within the report.

The Chairman asked for the report to be submitted in January.

The Panel **RESOLVED** to fully agree with this proposal.

23 INTEGRATED TRANSPORT AUTHORITY

The Group Manager for Planning Policy & Transport gave a presentation to the Panel on this item, a full copy of which is on the Panel's Minute Book. A summary is set out below.

What are Integrated Transport Authorities?

- ITAs are the new name given to Passenger Transport Executives
- ITAs prepare Local Transport Plans and are responsible for public transport policy but are not highway authorities.

What powers might it have?

- All (or some) highways powers
- Powers to direct highway authorities
- e.g bus lanes/parking restrictions etc

Advantages

- Historically higher levels of spending on public transport services and infrastructure.
- Power to raise a levy.
- Greater co-ordination of transport network across the whole of the ITA area.
- Single voice with Government and support through the Passenger Transport Executive Group.

Disadvantages

- Additional tier of bureaucracy with large numbers of staff.
- Levy added to Council Tax.
- Inequity of all areas (rural to inner city) paying the same levy.
- No scrutiny arrangements.
- Separation from Planning Authorities particularly on land use planning.
- Exposure to financial risks.

What funds might it have?

- ITA are levying authorities not precepting authority
- Will an ITA come with a bill?
- Will an ITA come with a cheque?

What is the process for creating an ITA?

- 2 or more Local Authorities can commence a review
- A review could take a year
- Secretary of State approval with statutory consultation could take a further year
- Establishing an ITA itself could take a further year

Do we need an ITA?

- We have a fully constituted Joint Committee
- Department for Transport want to talk to us
- Department for Transport want to fund our initiatives e.g. Greater Bristol Bus Network, Smartcard, Local Sustainable Transport Fund & Cycle City (in Bristol & South Gloucestershire)
- Would an ITA give us greater voice over rail?

He informed the Panel that a report on the ITA would be discussed at the West of England Joint Committee on September 22nd 2011. The report is available via the link below.

http://www.westofengland.org/media/224249/item%206%20jtec%20transport%20po wers%20220911.pdf

He added that Bristol had previously shown an interest in forming an ITA, but no other Local Authority had.

Councillor Charles Gerrish commented that a previous Panel of the Council had discussed this matter and were unanimously against the idea.

Councillor Caroline Roberts commented that she did not believe the whole of B&NES would benefit from an ITA and that she was concerned about the Council losing its highway powers.

The Panel **RESOLVED** to thank the officer for his presentation and asked to be updated when appropriate on any developments.

24 SUBSIDISED BUS SERVICES BRIEFING

The Public Transport Team Leader introduced this item to the Panel. He informed them that the average subsidy per passenger was around £1.50 and there were 20 operators throughout the Council. He added that the service had seen a 6% increase in passengers from 09/10 – 10/11 where as the national average was only around 1% - 2%.

He highlighted that most bus services (roughly 85% of the total) outside London are operated on a commercial basis, i.e. the operator decides where and when to run, then sets fares to cover the operating costs to bring in a profit. The Council has no control over commercial bus services, other than the general powers of a highway authority.

The Chairman commented that she felt this was a very important point to make clear as it was often misconceived that the Council had more power on this matter.

Coucillor Malcolm Hanney asked for a breakdown of the routes and their subsidies and commented that he hoped that all the current services would remain in place.

Councillor David Martin asked what degree of control the Council had over the type of buses that were used on services.

The Public Transport Team Leader replied that the Council could specify the actual type of bus if it wished to on any contracted service.

Councillor Neil Butters asked if the Council had been affected by the reduction in reimbursement rates to bus operators for concessionary fares in April 2011.

The Public Transport Team Leader replied that the Council had seen no overall affect and was expecting fresh Government guidance on the matter very soon.

Councillor Douglas Nicol commented that he felt it was vital for bus travel to be as inexpensive as possible. He also asked who monitors the patronage and revenue data that is supplied on a monthly basis.

The Public Transport Team Leader replied that this was done by his service area.

Councillor Douglas Nicol asked why the monitoring of contracted services only took place on an *ad hoc* basis.

The Public Transport Team Leader replied that there is not a specific resource for carrying out monitoring, so it is done by officers and casual staff.

The Panel **RESOLVED** to note the briefing.

25 CORE STRATEGY - PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE SUBMISSION DOCUMENT

The Divisional Director for Planning and Transport introduced this item to the Panel. He explained that he felt that housing delivery contingency was probably the most important element under examination by the inspector. He added that this should not be seen as an opportunity for Members to make significant changes to the Core Strategy, but if they did choose to it would require the current strategy to be withdrawn.

He said he was happy to respond to the inspector on the Council's wishes for their plans for housing delivery to be made on brownfield sites first, however he stressed their could be some difficulty if no contingency plan is shown to be in place. He added that the danger would be if the Council did not provide a contingency plan at this stage it may be directed to by the inspector at a later date and this would cause a delay in implementation.

He stated that the contingency plan would only be brought forward if the Council were failing to deliver the appropriate number of houses, say 1,000 houses behind schedule after five years.

The Chairman commented that she maintained a major reservation over the use of any Green Belt land.

Councillor Charles Gerrish addressed the Panel. He called for the Panel not to approve the recommendations within the report and suggested that citing an inability to progress the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was misleading. He added that the Council must be mindful not to choose a contingency site that would be isolated and therefore have a lack of community services.

The Divisional Director for Planning and Transport replied that the report had been written in response to questions raised by the inspector. He added that the Council had every reason to be confident of passing the examination given the development currently underway at Bath Western Riverside.

On the matter of a contingency site he stated that all of the options would provide some degree of difficulty, but that it was felt that Hicks Gate would provide the least.

Councillor Caroline Roberts commented that she believed no Green Belt site should be built upon where a brownfield site was available.

The Divisional Director for Planning and Transport replied that the Ministry of Defence sites had always been in the thoughts of the Council, but that it was the speed of their availability that had increased slightly.

Councillor David Martin asked for clarification of point A6.6 within Annex F of the report in relation to the Council being able to demonstrate a five year +20% supply of housing land.

The Divisional Director for Planning and Transport replied that the Council had looked very hard at where it could develop housing and had taken the view that it would be very difficult to agree to the proposal of seeking a further 20%.

The Panel asked for their comments to be taken under consideration and **RESOLVED** to note the report.

26 DRAFT STRATEGY FOR PROVISION OF PUBLIC TOILETS IN BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET

The Neighbourhoods Service Manager and the Waste Management Officer introduced this item to the Panel.

The Neighbourhoods Service Manager informed them that strategy recognises that local councils are no longer the only providers of toilet facilities and that other providers and options must be brought forward to achieve the aim and objectives outlined. It also establishes a framework for future provision in a range of ways and by a range of providers, with a range of funding sources to achieve an overall improved standard of quality, quantity and distribution.

He added that approval of the strategy in 2011/12 will allow integration with the Local Development Framework and other planning interventions that will facilitate and capitalise on future opportunities for funding contributions such as through the Community Infrastructure Levy (largely replacing the previous Section 106 planning obligations arrangements).

The Waste Management Officer added that the strategy was primarily written to improve services.

The Chairman commented that she felt some pressure should be put upon the business / retail community to provide / fund further facilities. She also called for the ratings of the facilities to be improved and thought that introducing a charge for the use of facilities should not be ruled out.

The Neighbourhoods Service Manager replied that standards were improving where possible and they hoped to soon have an operative on site at the Coach

Park, Avon Street. He added that any charge must be reasonable and sustainable – 20p / 30p.

Councillor Neil Butters commented that he felt that the toilets nearest to the train and bus station closed too early.

Councillor David Martin suggested that improved signage was paramount.

The Neighbourhoods Service Manager replied that they were working with officers involved on the Public Realm and hoped to produce a map that would be widely available.

Councillor Malcolm Hanney commented that he felt that the BID (Business Improvement District) would expect the Council to make a contribution if it were being asked to contribute.

The Panel **RESOLVED** to recommend that the Provision Strategy for Public Toilets is taken forward for consideration by the Cabinet Member prior to adoption by the Cabinet later in 2011/12.

27 CABINET MEMBER UPDATE

The Chairman thanked Councillor Roger Symonds in his absence for his update paper.

28 PANEL WORKPLAN

The Chairman introduced this item to the Panel. She informed them that she had been asked by officers to have the Waste Strategy Review and Action Plan on the November agenda following a suggestion from Councillor David Dixon, Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods. She also reminded them that earlier in the meeting they had asked for a Bath Parking Strategy report to come the January meeting of the Panel.

Councillor David Martin asked if the Panel had any role to play in the Article 4 direction in relation to Houses of Multiple Occupancy.

Councillor Malcolm Hanney asked if anything within the Panel's remit could be brought forward as part of a Single Day Inquiry.

The Chairman noted the request of both Councillor Martin and Councillor Hanney.

The Panel **RESOLVED** to agree with the proposals in relation to the Waste Strategy Review and Action Plan and the Bath Parking Strategy.

The meeting ended at 5.50 pm Chair(person) Date Confirmed and Signed Prepared by Democratic Services

Bath & North East Somerset Council			
MEETING:	Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny		
MEETING DATE:	8 November 2011		
TITLE:	Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD): Issues and Options Consultation Paper and 'Call for Sites'		
WARD:	ALL		
AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM			
List of attachments to this report:			
Appendix 1 – Draft Consultation Document			

1 THE ISSUE

- 1.1 As Local Housing Authority, the Council has a duty to assess the housing needs of the district. The Housing Act 2004 extended this duty to the specific requirements of gypsy and traveller communities. The assessment undertaken in 2007 determined that the district by 2016 required 22 permanent and 20 transit pitches, and for travelling showpeople one yard. The draft Core Strategy Policy CP11 has been framed with regard to this assessed need of the district and to assist effective delivery a DPD is now proposed, as follows.
- 1.2 The Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) is a formal planning document prepared by the Council which allocates land for the development of authorised Gypsy and Traveller pitches across the District. The Issues and Options paper seeks public comment on how sites should be allocated for development as Gypsy and Traveller pitches or Travelling Showpeople yards. The Call for Sites seeks information on potential land for allocation.

2 **RECOMMENDATION**

The Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel is asked to:

2.1 Consider the Draft Consultation Document incorporating a Call for Sites (Appendix 1 to this report) and advise Cabinet of any recommended changes; and

2.2 Note that the Draft Consultation Document is scheduled for public consultation over an extended period of 8 weeks to run from late November.

3 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

- 3.1 The Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocations DPD is being prepared within the agreed budget for 2011/2012. This budget enables the DPD to progress in line with the work programme in the adopted Local Development Scheme.
- 3.2 The progression and eventual adoption of the Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocations DPD will demonstrate the Council's commitment to the provision of sites to meet local need. The allocation and development of sufficient sites will also enable the Council to redirect households travelling through the District to legal transit sites. This will reduce the need for enforcement action by the Council and its associated costs.
- 3.3 Identification of suitable allocation site(s) will have longer term financial implications because there is a cost to the establishment of sites.

4 THE REPORT

- 4.1 The purpose of the Site Allocations Development Plan Document is to allocate sufficient land to develop authorised sites for accommodation by Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople. Bath and North East Somerset District does not currently contain any permanent authorised sites, although a site has been granted temporary planning permission in Whitchurch. The Council is currently working towards producing a new Corporate Policy on Gypsies and Travellers and the Site Allocations document will relate to that policy's aims to oversee the process of site allocation and development.
- 4.2 The Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) is currently at Issues and Options stage. This is the first stage of public consultation seeking to agree the way and form in which sites should be provided, and to ask the public to identify potential land for allocation. Any comments arising from the Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny committee will be reported to Cabinet on 9 November 2011.
- 4.3 The content of the Issues paper follows the Draft Core Strategy Policy CP11 which sets out the criteria against which land will be assessed for development. From these criteria the consultation paper asks a series of questions about the form of development, including site tenure and mixed-use site provision.
- 4.4 The Council has committed through the Draft Core Strategy to provide 22 permanent pitches and 20 transit pitches for Gypsies and Travellers, and 1 yard for Travelling Showpeople. These figures are derived from

the Council's evidence base, the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment carried out in 2007, which sets out local need including projected family growth.

- 4.5 The scoring matrix (as included at Appendix A of this note) weighs each of the issues relevant to site allocation in order to objectively identify the most suitable, sustainable sites. The matrix was developed based on national planning guidance, weighting particular matters, for example protection of the Green Belt, more heavily to reflect their relative importance.
- 4.6 The period of consultation will also include a 'Call for Sites' which asks the public to put forward any land they consider suitable for allocation as Gypsy, Traveller or Travelling Showpeople sites. Any land coming forward as part of this process will be considered for allocation against the site criteria, and assessed against the scoring matrix. A review of Council-owned land is also underway to assess local assets for their potential allocation as part of this process. The results of that review will be taken into account alongside any land coming forward from the public.
- 4.7 There will be subsequent public consultations later in 2012 on the proposed sites to be allocated.

5 RISK MANAGEMENT

5.1 The report author and Lead Cabinet member have fully reviewed the risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management guidance.

6 EQUALITIES

- 6.1 The statutory duties of the Council include the Single Equality Duty to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between different groups in the course of developing policies and delivering services. Gypsies and Travellers are recognised as distinct ethnic groups and are protected from discrimination by the Equality Act 2010.
- 6.2 An Equalities Impact Assessment of the Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocations DPD Issues and Options consultation paper was carried out using corporate guidelines and in consultation with an Equalities Officer. The overall impact on equality strands was considered to be positive, however opportunities for improvement were raised as actions. The actions arising from this have been considered and will be incorporated into the next consultation document, the Options Paper. The Equalities Officer was also consulted on a draft version of the consultation paper and comments arising from this were incorporated into the current draft version.

7 CONSULTATION

- 7.1 Ward Councillor; Cabinet Member; Parish Council; Town Council; Overview & Scrutiny Panel; Staff; Other B&NES Services; Service Users; Local Residents; Community Interest Groups; Youth Council; Stakeholders/Partners; Other Public Sector Bodies; Charter Trustees of Bath; Section 151 Finance Officer; Chief Executive; Monitoring Officer
- 7.2 It is recommended that the consultation period run for an 8 week period from late November 2011. A series of manned drop-in events will be held to encourage public participation and to draw together local aspirations, opportunities and concerns. These events will be geared towards gathering contacts and evidence to inform future drafts of the document. Particular emphasis is placed on engaging on a face to face basis with the local travelling community and representatives of the Gypsy and Traveller community through direct on-site contact by the Council officers.
- 7.3 Consultation will also include:
 - Local press and media coverage
 - Feature article in Connect (sent to all households)
 - E-consultation
 - Email to all consultees listed on the Local Development Framework (LDF) consultation database and known interest groups
 - Newsletter / leaflet / poster distribution and advertisement
 - Display boards
- 7.4 One to one meetings with key stakeholders

8 ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION

8.1 Social Inclusion; Customer Focus; Sustainability; Human Resources; Property; Young People; Human Rights; Corporate; Health & Safety; Other Legal Considerations

9 ADVICE SOUGHT

9.1 The Council's Monitoring Officer (Divisional Director – Legal and Democratic Services) and Section 151 Officer (Divisional Director - Finance) have had the opportunity to input to this report and have cleared it for publication.

Contact	David Trigwell: Divisional Director - Planning and
person	Transport 01225 394125

	Simon de Beer: Policy & Environment Manager 01225 477616	
Background papers	West of England Gypsy Traveller Accommodation (and Other Needs) Assessment (GTAA) (2007)	
Please contact the report author if you need to access this		

report in an alternative format

Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD): Issues and Options Paper

Contents Page

1.	Introduction	1
	How to Make Comments and Submit Site Information	
2.	Planning Policy Framework	2
	What is the Local Development Framework?	
	What has been done so far?	
	National Planning Policy Framework	
	Definitions	
	Local Planning Policy Context	
	Why do we need a Site Allocations DPD?	
	Sustainability Appraisal	
	What Happens Next?	
3.	Context and Monitoring	6
	History	
	Identified Need in Bath & North East Somerset	
	Monitoring	
4.	Issues	9
	Issue 1: Site Size	
	Issue 2: Site Tenure	
	Issue 3: Rural Exception Site	
	Issue 4: Mixed Use Sites	
	Issue 5: Location of Sites	
	Summary of Criteria and Methodology for Assessing Sites	
	Other Issues	
5.	Options	14
	Method of Identifying Sites – Call for Sites	

Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD): Issues and Options Paper

Appendices

- A Glossary
- **B** Draft Site Selection Scoring Matrix

Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD): Issues and Options Paper

1 Introduction

- 1.1 This document seeks your views on the issues and options for the allocation of sites for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople. Bath and North East Somerset Council is committed to meeting current and future needs of these communities and the information contained within this document offers a starting point for discussion. This consultation will inform the development of a methodology for assessing sites for allocation as well as inviting land to be put forward to be considered for allocations.
- 1.2 This Issues and Options Paper does not make any statement of intent and readers should note that the Council has made no decision in favour of any possible sites at this stage. Once the criteria for site selection have been finalised following the results of this first consultation, a second public consultation will take place specifically to look at preferred site options for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites that meet those identified criteria.
- 1.3 We have set out a number of questions relating to each of the issues raised in the document which we are seeking responses to. We are inviting comments on these questions between **17 November 2011 and 12 January 2012**.

How to Make Comments and Submit Site Information

- 1.4 Hard copies of this document and response forms are available online at <u>www.bathnes.gov.uk/planningfortravellers</u>, in all local libraries and at The Guildhall, Bath, The Hollies, Midsomer Norton, and Riverside, Keynsham. To find out more about the Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) you can visit our webpage or call on 01225 477548. Please contact us if you have particular access needs or would like help completing the comments form.
- 1.5 Early community involvement will help to ensure this document better reflects the views of all those with an interest in it. If you would like to discuss the issues outlined in the document in more detail, drop in events are being held between Xpm and Xpm at:
 - Place, time
- 1.6 Two response forms accompany this document. If you would like to respond our preferred method of communication is for comments to be submitted online at <u>www.bathnes.gov.uk/planningfortravellers</u>. Alternatively, comments can be sent by email to planning_policy@bathnes.gov.uk, or in writing using the general response form to:

Gypsy and Traveller DPD Planning Services PO Box 5006 Bath BA1 1JG

1.6 Please send your response to us by **5pm** on **12 January 2012**. This will enable us to consider responses in preparation for the next consultation document.

2 Planning Policy Framework

2.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 introduced the requirement for local authorities to replace their Local Plans with Local Development Frameworks (LDFs). One of the most important policy documents in the LDF is the Core Strategy, which will provide the framework for more detailed policies and site allocations to be set out in Local Development Documents, including the Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD).

What has been done so far?

2.2 The Core Strategy has been through several stages of consultation and was submitted for Examination on 3 May 2011. The Core Strategy is the principal Development Plan Document within the LDF as it sets the long term vision, spatial strategy and core policies for shaping the future development of the District to 2026. As such, all other documents have to be in conformity with it.

National Planning Policy Framework

- 2.3 The national planning policy framework relating to Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople is currently set out in Circulars 01/2006 and 04/2007. Draft Planning Policy Statement (PPS) *Planning for Traveller Sites*, the proposed replacement for both Circulars was consulted on in 2011 but is not yet adopted policy.
- 2.4 The draft National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) released for consultation in July 2011 makes no reference to the travelling community but places emphasis on a presumption in favour of sustainable development. The draft PPS is due to be incorporated into the NPPF which is a material consideration in determining planning matters, including this Development Plan Document.

Definitions

2.5 For planning purposes Government guidance defines Gypsies and Travellers within Circular 01/2006 as:

"Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons who on grounds only of their own or their family's or dependants' educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily or permanently, but excluding members of an organised group of travelling show people or circus people travelling together as such."

2.6 Travelling Showpeople are defined within Circular 04/2007 as:

"Members of a group organised for the purposes of holding fairs, circuses or shows (whether or not travelling together as such). This includes such persons who on the grounds of their own or their family's or dependants' more localised pattern of trading, educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily or permanently, but excludes Gypsies and travellers as defined in ODPM Circular 01/2006."

These definitions will be used for the purposes of this document.

Local Planning Policy Context

2.7 Until such time as the Core Strategy is adopted Policy HG.16 of the Local Plan (2007) is the main policy against which applications for development will be assessed. It states the following:

"Proposals to provide sites, including mixed-use sites, for use by Gypsies who reside in or resort to Bath & North East Somerset will be permitted on land outside the scope of Policies GDS.1 and HG.4 and 6 provided that:

- *i) the site has good access to local services, facilities and public transport;*
- ii) it has safe and convenient access to the road network;
- *iii) it is capable of being landscaped to ensure that it blends in with its surroundings;*
- *iv)* adequate services including foul and surface water drainage and waste disposal can be provided;
- v) there would be no harmful impact on the amenities of local residents by reason of noise or fumes from business activities"
- 2.8 Policy CP11 of the Bath and North East Somerset Draft Core Strategy relating to the development of Gypsy and Traveller sites sets out the criteria against which planning applications will be considered once the Core Strategy has been adopted.

Core Strategy Policy CP11

The following criteria will be used to guide the identification of suitable sites to meet the established accommodation needs of gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople to 2011 and their accommodation needs beyond 2011 once assessed.

Proposals for sites for gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople accommodation will be considered against the following criteria:

- a local community services and facilities, including shops, schools and health facilities, should be accessible by foot, cycle and public transport
- b satisfactory means of access can be provided and the existing highway network is adequate to service the site
- c the site is large enough to allow for adequate space for on-site facilities and amenity, parking and manoeuvring, as well as any commercial activity if required
- d the site does not harm the character and appearance of the surrounding area
- e adequate services including utilities, foul and surface water and waste disposal can be provided as well as any necessary pollution control measures
- f use of the site must have no harmful impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers
- g the site should avoid areas at high risk of flooding and have no adverse impact on protected habitats and species, nationally recognised designations and natural resources

Delivery:

Delivery will be through the Development Management process.

Sites will be identified through the Gypsies and Travellers DPD to meet identified accommodation needs up to 2011 and beyond once assessed.

Why do we need a Site Allocations DPD?

- 2.9 The need for authorised Gypsy and Traveller accommodation is confirmed through a Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) undertaken for the West of England local authorities in 2007. The outcomes of this study are set out in more detail in Section 3 (Issues).
- 2.10 The statutory duties of the Council include the Single Equality Duty to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between different groups in the course of developing policies and delivering services. Gypsies and Travellers are recognised as distinct ethnic groups and are protected from discrimination by the Equality Act 2010. New Travellers are recognised as part of the travelling community and are included in the biannual Caravan Count.
- 2.11 Estimates suggest a population of approximately 200,000 Gypsies and Travellers in England. Whilst much of this population reside in bricks and mortar accommodation, around 18,000 caravans are sited across England, with about 20% of this number (under 4,000) on unauthorised sites. Until 1994 local authorities were required under previous legislation to provide Gypsy and Traveller sites. There is no permanent authorised pitch provision in Bath and North East Somerset and the current planning policy framework (the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 2007) has failed to provide pitches, resulting in the current level of unauthorised encampments and developments.
- 2.12 The failure to allocate sufficient land to meet the need for permanent and transit pitches across the District has a number of impacts including:
 - Continuing the current problem of unauthorised development and encampments, as well as tensions with the settled community;
 - Increasing the difficulty of ensuring stable access to all the support and services that the Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople communities need;
 - Reinforcing the cycle of nomadism and homelessness for those Gypsies and Travellers who may prefer or need a more settled way of life, but cannot find a permanent site;
 - Applications for development being decided on appeal, which can result in sites being permitted that may not be the most suitable or sustainable locations for development;
 - Failure of the Council to meet the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers in contravention of its duty under the Housing Act 2004; and
 - Restricting the Council's ability to enforce against unauthorised development as our ability to enforce is related to our activity in meeting the need for new provision.
- 2.13 The Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocations DPD will therefore seek to address these issues by identifying sites to meet the

accommodation needs of Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople in Bath and North East Somerset up to 2016.

Sustainability Appraisal

- 2.14 As part of the production of the Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocation DPD, the Council is required to undertake a Sustainability Appraisal (SA). This will assess the likely social, economic and environmental effects of a plan. In doing so it will aim to promote sustainable development which seeks a better quality of life for everyone, now and in the future. This will ensure the final version is sound and conforms to sustainability principles set out by the Government.
- 2.15 A Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report was produced in July 2010 in order to set a framework against which the Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocation DPD will be assessed. A Sustainability Appraisal of the Issues and Options document has also been undertaken. The results of this appraisal will be taken into account in preparing the next stage of the Site Allocations Development Plan Document.

Health Impact / Needs Assessment

2.16 Bath and North East Somerset Primary Care Trust are currently undertaking a Health Needs Assessment of Gypsies and Travellers across the District. The results of this will be taken into account in developing the Site Allocations Development Plan Document, as well as informing a Health Impacts Assessment that will be carried out on preferred site(s) at Options stage.

Equalities Impact Assessment

- 2.17 An Equalities Impact Assessment was carried out on the draft of this Issues and Options consultation paper. This assessment will be reviewed when the next stage of the document, on preferred site(s) is developed.
- 2.18 Each of the above documents, including the Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report and the Council's response to comments received on the that document can be accessed on the Council's website <u>www.bathnes.gov.uk/planningfortravellers</u> and hard copies are available at the main Council offices.

What Happens Next?

- 2.19 This marks the start of a process that will lead to the Council formally adopting the final version of the document that will allocate specific sites for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople use.
- 2.20 At the end of the consultation period, a Consultation Statement will be produced. This will contain all the comments that have been received, the Council's response to the issues raised through the consultation and details of how, where appropriate, these issues will be addressed in the next version of the document. Work will then start on identifying all sites in the District that are considered suitable for Gypsy and Traveller pitch provision and producing an Options report for further public consultation, with information on the Council's preferred site(s). This is expected to take place in June 2012. The key stages that the document will be consulted on are detailed below.

Key Stage	Date	
Project commencement	March 2010	
Evidence gathering and drafting of document.		
Consultation on the Issues and Options document and Call for Sites	November 2011	
Comments can be made on the issues that the document will address and the possible options for responding to them. Land considered suitable for allocation can also be put forward.	CURRENT STAGE	
Consultation on the Options document	June 2012	
A second stage of consultation to be held on preferred options arising from earlier consultation, including preferred sites.		
Consultation on the Pre-Submission document	November	
This document will identify all the sites that are considered suitable for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople use. Comments can be made on these sites.	2012	
Submission of the document to the Secretary of State	March 2013	
Examination	June 2013	
The document will be examined by an independent Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State. The purpose of this is to ensure it is in line with the law and sound.		
Adoption	December	
The final version of the document will be adopted by the Council.	2013	

3. Context and Monitoring

<u>History</u>

- 3.1 Romani Gypsies have lived in Britain for around 600 years and people have travelled from community to community for even longer. Irish Travellers also have a long tradition of visiting Britain having travelled and lived here for generations. Wherever they have gone, Gypsies and Travellers have fiercely maintained a separate identity indeed this pride in their difference is an integral part of their culture. More recently, other people identified as New Travellers have also pursued a nomadic lifestyle.
- 3.2 Despite the tradition of nomadism, the degree to which Gypsies and Travellers now actively travel varies greatly. Traditional patterns of work are changing and although a minority still regularly travel (predominantly for work and cultural reasons), the majority of Gypsies and Travellers now lead a settled life. Indeed, research indicates that the majority prefer to live among family and friends, often in caravans.

3.3 The tradition of Travelling Showpeople in the UK dates back centuries, with the Showmen's Guild being formed in 1889. Most Showpeople are members of the Guild and travel the UK, holding fairs in accordance with a strict code of practice. Whilst travelling remains a key feature of their traditional way of life, the community has generally become more settled, with more groups requiring a permanent base from which to travel locally.

Identified Need in Bath & North East Somerset

- 3.4 A biannual caravan count is carried out across England. The last published count from January 2011 identified 39 caravans on unauthorised sites across the District. A single authorised site exists in Bath and North East Somerset. This site benefits from a temporary planning permission that is due to expire in 2015.
- 3.5 The baseline data informing this DPD will be updated as each successive Count is completed and published.
- 3.6 In accordance with the Housing Act 2004, all local authorities are required to carry out an assessment of the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers in their area. These assessments are known as Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessments (GTAA). A West of England GTAA was carried out in October 2007 for the four partner authorities of Bath and North East Somerset, Bristol City, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire. 188 face-to-face interviews with the Gypsy and Traveller population in these areas were carried out.
- 3.7 The results of the West of England GTAA revealed that 127 permanent pitches are needed in the period up to 2011 in the study area and, based on an indicative forecast of need, that a further 44 pitches are required in the period up to 2016 due to projected family growth. These accommodation requirements can be seen in the table below:

Local Authority	Permanent Pitches 2006 to 2011	Permanent Pitches 2011 to 2016
Bath & North East Somerset	19	3
Bristol City	24	6
North Somerset	36	13
South Gloucestershire	48	22
Total	127	44
	Total 2006- 2016	171

3.8 A total of 22 permanent pitches are required in the period to 2016 in Bath & North East Somerset.

Local Authority	Transit Pitches 2006 to 2016	Travelling Showpeople Yards	
		to 2011	to 2016

Bath & North East Somerset	20	1	0
Bristol City	0	11	3
North Somerset	10	0	0
South Gloucestershire	25	42	15
Total	55	51	18
	Total 2006-2016	69	

3.9 A total of 20 transit pitches and 1 yard are required in the period to 2016 in Bath & North East Somerset.

- 3.10 The results of the GTAA were reviewed in 2008 in a study commissioned by the South West Regional Assembly¹. This concluded that the West of England GTAA is both comprehensive and robust. As no permanent pitch provision has been made to date in the Bath and North East Somerset district and the caravan count data shows continued camping on unauthorised sites, the GTAA pitch requirements remain outstanding. The number of pitches and yards that will be allocated in the Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Allocations DPD will therefore be in accordance with the recommendations of the West of England GTAA.
- 3.11 Although the Planning Policy Statement *Planning for Traveller Sites* advises that provision should be projected forward for the 15 years following adoption of a document identifying allocated sites, the guidance on undertaking Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessments (DCLG, 2007) recognises that whilst it is possible to identify current need accurate projections of future needs are likely to be more difficult. At this stage no provision is recommended for post-2016.

Questions

1. Should the evidence base be updated to identify the accommodation needs of Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople in Bath and North East Somerset beyond 2016? If so, in what ways does it need updating?

Monitoring

3.12 The Council's adopted planning policies are monitored through the Annual Monitoring Report which assesses and reviews the extent to which the policies in local development documents are being implemented. The Draft Core Strategy Policy CP11 sets out target delivery figures of 22 permanent and 20 transit pitches, for which the following monitoring indicator is set:

"Net additional gypsy & traveller pitches provided annually and since 2006"

3.13 One of the key objectives of this DPD is to reduce the level of unauthorised development within Bath and North East Somerset. To ensure that the

¹ Advice on RSS Review of Additional Pitch Requirements for Gypsies and Travellers in the South West (South West Regional Assembly, 2008)

achievement of this objective is monitored, an additional indicator is proposed to be added to the annual monitoring framework:

- Number and size of unauthorised developments
- 3.14 If the DPD develops planning policies additional to Policy CP11 in the Core Strategy it may be appropriate to define further monitoring indicators to ensure that the performance of those policies is measured.

Question

- 2. Is the proposed additional indicator sufficient to assess the effectiveness of the DPD in meeting its objective of reducing the number of unauthorised sites across Bath and North East Somerset?
- 3. Are there any further monitoring indicators that may be suitable for inclusion in the DPD?

4. Issues

- 4.1 The issues and options set out below are those that the Council considers most relevant in providing sites for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople. They do not represent statements of intent, but are starting points for discussion and debate.
- 4.2 A pitch is defined as an area of land where a single Gypsy or Traveller household lives. There is no one-size fits-all measurement of a pitch as, similar to bricks and mortar housebuilding, this depends on the size of individual families and their particular needs. As Gypsy and Traveller households often include several generations travelling together the GTAA recommends using an average of 3 caravans per pitch.
- 4.3 Government guidance² sets out the general facilities an average family pitch must be capable of accommodating:
 - large trailer and touring caravan;
 - amenity / day building;
 - drying space for clothes;
 - lockable shed
 - parking space for two vehicles; and
 - a small garden area.
- 4.4 Similar site selection criteria should be used to identify and allocate land for a single Travelling Showpeople yard, in accordance with national policy and the findings of the GTAA. Travelling Showpeople yards have slightly different requirements³ to those set out for Gypsy and Travelling pitches, due to the need to provide land for the storage, maintenance and repair of equipment.

Issue 1: Site Size

² Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites: Good Practice Guide (DCLG, 2008)

³ The Showmen's Guild of Great Britain: Travelling Showpeople Sites – A Planning Focus, Model Standard Package (2007)

- 4.5 Circular 01/2006 does not consider it appropriate to specify how many pitches there should be on a site. Government guidance², however, states that "a maximum of 15 pitches is conducive to providing a comfortable environment which is easy to manage" and that "smaller sites of 3-4 pitches can be successful, particularly where designed for one extended family". The size of a pitch may also vary depending on whether land is needed for grazing animals or business activities.
- 4.6 The need for smaller sites in Bath and North East Somerset District is supported by the West of England GTAA which found that most survey respondents expressed a preference to live in smaller family sized sites of no more than 5 pitches.
- 4.7 In determining site sizes, consideration needs to be given to the need to provide sufficient sites to allow those who wish to live separately from other groups to do so. Site size will take account of site specific circumstances, including the surrounding population and density. Site size should also take account of the potential for family growth to prevent overcrowding, displacement to other sites, or homelessness.

Question

- 4. Should the preferred approach be to allocate sufficient land to allow groups to live separately from each other?
- 5. Should sites make allowance for future family growth to prevent overcrowding?

Issue 2: Site Tenure

- 4.8 It is important to recognise that not all members of the travelling community may be able to provide their own site. Though the majority of those households surveyed through the GTAA stated that they would prefer to own their own sites, different forms of tenure on sites in Bath and North East Somerset may be suitable to meet other needs. The forms of tenure that may be provided include:
 - Privately owned for owner-occupation by a single or extended family
 - Privately owned and managed to be rented by Gypsies and Travellers
 - Publicly owned and managed by a Registered Social Landlord or local authority

Question

6. What form of tenure do you consider would best suit the needs of the Gypsy and Traveller community in Bath and North East Somerset? Please give reasons.

Issue 3: Rural Exception Site

4.9 Current Government guidance in Circular 01/2006 and the draft PPS on *Planning for Traveller Sites* states that in areas where there is a lack of affordable land to meet local Traveller needs, authorities should consider allocating and releasing sites solely for affordable Traveller sites through a Rural Exception Site Policy.

Question

7. In order to cater for a range of needs, do you consider a rural exception site policy is required?

Issue 4: Mixed Use Sites

- 4.10 Guidance suggests that mixed use sites should be provided to accommodate some business use on Gypsy and Traveller sites where appropriate. When considering the suitability of a site for mixed use, it is important to have regard to the safety and amenity of residents and neighbours, as well as compatibility with surrounding land uses.
- 4.11 If mixed use sites are not practical in a particular location, Circular 01/2006 recommends that separate sites for residential and business purposes should be provided.

Question

8. Do you agree that mixed residential and business uses should only be permitted where appropriate to the location and where the safety and amenity of residents and neighbours will not be compromised?

Issue 5: Location of Sites

4.12 Selecting the best locations for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites is a key element in supporting sustainability and good community relations. The following criteria form the background to the site selection scoring matrix which will be used in the identification of preferred sites. The site selection scoring matrix and methodology will be finalised as a result of this consultation and be used to identify the preferred site(s) for allocation.

Locations In or Near Existing Settlements

- Locations in or near existing settlements are prioritised in Circulars 01/2006 and 04/2007. Such locations are generally more sustainable than those in remote areas, with better access to health and education services, shopping facilities, transport networks and employment opportunities. They are also more likely to reduce the need for car travel.
- Building Research Establishment (BRE) guidance⁴ on sustainable residential development encourages developers to locate new housing within close proximity to local services and amenities. An optimum distance of no more than 1,000m from key amenities via a safe walking route is recommended. This has been extended to 1,500m in the scoring matrix to reflect the rurality of Bath and North East Somerset and guidance on locating Traveller sites in rural areas in Circular 01/2006.

Visual Impact

⁴ Ecohomes 2006 – The Environmental Rating for Homes (BRE, 2006)

- Developments should respect the scale of the environment and not dominate the nearest settled community whilst offering visual and acoustic privacy.
- National policy notes that landscaping and planting can help sites "blend into their surroundings, give structure and privacy, and maintain visual amenity." Where screening is considered appropriate, sites that are well screened, or have the ability to be screened through landscaping, will be considered more favourably.

Green Belt

- The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent the uncontrolled spread of urban areas into surrounding open countryside. There are 21,440 hectares of Green Belt land within Bath and North East Somerset, equating to approximately 61% of the total land area (see figure x below).
- There is a general presumption against development that would be harmful to the Green Belt. As with housing provision for the settled community, in accordance with national planning policy⁵, Gypsy and Traveller sites are normally considered inappropriate development on Green Belt land.
- Draft Policy Statement *Planning for Traveller Sites* removes the word 'normally' from the above policy. As the Statement is not yet adopted policy sites located in the Green Belt proposed for allocation will continue to be considered under existing policy, as set out in Circular 01/2006 and the Draft Core Strategy.
- The importance of protecting the Green Belt is reflected in the positive weighting given to sites not in the Green Belt in the site selection scoring matrix. Any sites in the Green Belt will be considered less favourably than those outside the Green Belt under this scoring.

National and Local Land Designations

- The quality and character of the District should be protected and enhanced where possible. Proper regard must therefore be given to areas that have been designated for their landscape, wildlife or historic qualities and the site selection methodology will reflect their importance.
- National and local landscape designations within Bath and North East Somerset will be summarised and the potential impact of any site allocations considered in the Sustainability Appraisal.
- Developments should have no adverse impact on protected habitats and species, and natural resources. The importance of protected land will be recognised through the site selection criteria.

Flood Risk

⁵ Planning Policy Guidance 2: Green Belts (DCLG, 2001) and Circular 01/2006 (ODPM, 2006)

• Caravans and mobile homes intended for permanent residential use are classified as 'highly vulnerable' development that should not be located in areas at high risk of flooding (Flood Zone 3)⁶.

Health and Safety Considerations

• It is essential to ensure that Gypsy and Traveller sites provide a healthy and safe environment for residents. Sites should therefore not be located on contaminated land and avoid being near to industrial processes, refuse sites and other hazardous places.

Previously Developed (Brownfield) Land

• National planning policy⁷ currently encourages the use of previously developed (brownfield) land wherever appropriate. Circular 01/2006 recommends that the development of previously developed, untidy or derelict land for Gypsy and Traveller sites can positively enhance the environment and increase openness.

Vehicular Considerations

- Where possible the location of Gypsy and Traveller sites should seek to reduce reliance on the car. Sites are required to have safe and convenient vehicular access and adequate parking space.
- The potential for noise and other disturbance should also be considered in site selection though site development which would give rise to only modest additional daily vehicle movements is considered acceptable.

Question

9. Are there any additional criteria that should be considered in selecting the best locations for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites?

Summary of Criteria and Methodology for Assessing Sites

4.13 It is proposed that all possible sites will be assessed against the criteria set out in the Issues section above. A draft **scoring matrix is set out at Appendix** B. This will use a sequential approach to indicate the most suitable and sustainable sites. High scoring sites will be put forward as preferred options for allocation in the next consultation document, the Options Paper. These will be subject to a rigorous assessment process, including being subject to Sustainability Appraisal and, where appropriate, Habitats Regulation Assessment.

Question

10. Does the proposed site selection methodology and the range of factors to be considered provide a reasonable and robust means of assessing potential site suitability?

⁶ Planning Policy Statement 25: Development and Flood Risk (DCLG, 2010)

⁷ Planning Policy Statement 1: Delivering Sustainable Development (ODPM, 2005)

- 11. Are there any other criteria that should be considered in site assessment?
- 12. Are the scores and weighting set out in the scoring matrix appropriate? Should any of the criteria be scored differently?

Other Issues

4.14 The Council considers that all of the key issues associated with the allocation of Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites have been raised in this document.

Question

- 13. Are there any other issues that the Council should take into account when preparing this DPD?
- 14. Do you have any other general comments on the Issues and Options Report? Please focus your comments on planning issues, national and local policies, government guidance and best practice for Gypsy and Traveller sites.

5. Options

Method of Identifying Sites – Call for Sites

- 5.1 There are a number of ways in which land for development of Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople sites can be identified. Each method is to be appraised using the same criteria; no order of preference is to be used. The methods of identification include:
 - Existing Gypsy and Traveller sites with temporary planning permission;
 - Existing Gypsy and Traveller sites with no planning permission;
 - Appraising unused and surplus public sector land; and
 - Identifying land in private ownership that may be suitable through a Call for Sites.
- 5.2 An initial appraisal of unused and surplus land owned by the Council was carried out in 2010. This will be updated and the results of this appraisal and discussions with other public bodies to establish if any additional surplus land exists that may be suitable for allocation will be published as part of the evidence base at the next consultation.
- 5.3 As part of the current consultation we are seeking information on any sites in private ownership that may be considered suitable for allocation as a Gypsy, Traveller or Travelling Showpeople site.

Do you know of any land in the District that, based on the criteria set out above, may be suitable, available and deliverable to provide Gypsy and Traveller pitches or a Travelling Showpeople yard? If so, please complete the accompanying form as fully as possible.

Appendix A

Glossary of Terms

Allocation

Land identified as appropriate for a specific land use and safeguarded for that purpose through a Development Plan Document.

Amenity Building

There is no single definition of an amenity building but Government guidance states that they should include a minimum of: hot and cold running water; electricity supply; separate toilet; a bath/shower room; and a kitchen and dining area.

Authorised Site

A site which has planning permission for use as a Gypsy and Traveller site.

Brownfield

Also described as previously developed land. Previously-developed land is that which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the developed land and any associated fixed surface infrastructure.

Caravan

Any structure designed or adapted for human habitation that is capable of being moved from one place to another. Twin-unit caravans shall not be treated as not being (or not having been) a caravan by reason only that it cannot lawfully be moved on a highway when assembled.

Core Strategy

The principal Development Plan Document (DPD) within the Local Development Framework which sets the long term vision, spatial strategy and core policies for shaping the future development of the District to 2026. All other DPDs have to be in conformity with it.

Development Plan Document (DPD)

The key statutory documents within the Local Development Framework. These have to go through rigorous procedures of community involvement, consultation and independent examination being adopted.

Emergency Stopping Place

A licensed short-term Gypsy and Traveller site (or sometimes a 'tolerated' but unauthorised location) to which Gypsies and Travellers can be directed when in need. Fewer facilities are available than on transit sites and usually residents would only be able to remain at such a site for a few days.

Equality Impact Assessment

The process of appraising the equalities effects of plans, strategies and policies on different groups within the community. The primary concern is to identify any discriminatory or negative consequences.

Green Belt

Areas of land where development is particularly tightly controlled with the purpose to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; to prevent neighbouring towns coalescence; to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and to assist in urban regeneration by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land.

Gypsy and Traveller

For the purposes of this document, the term is used to refer to all ethnic Gypsies and Irish Travellers, as well as other groups that adopt a nomadic way of life. It does not include Travelling Showpeople.

Habitats Regulations Assessment

The process of reviewing the potential adverse impacts arising from development on nature conservation interests of European protected areas, including those areas designated under the Habitats Directive.

Health Impact / Needs Assessment

The process of reviewing the health issues facing a population, leading to agreed priorities and resource allocation that will improve health and reduce inequalities.

Household

The typical housing need and census category of 'household unit' is defined as people who share either living space or at least one meal a day together.

Local Development Framework (LDF)

A series of planning documents that, when adopted, will set the long term spatial planning strategy for an area. This will replace the Local Plan.

Local Development Scheme (LDS)

A document that sets out the timetable for the production of planning documents in the Local Development Framework.

Local Plan

Sets out policies which guide how and where development should take place up to 2011. It will eventually be replaced by the Local Development Framework.

Mixed Use Sites

Sites that accommodate both residential and business uses. Business use may, for example, include the keeping of tools for employment in landscaping,

Mobile Home

Legally a **caravan**, but not usually capable of being moved by towing. Residential mobile homes are usually of a large size and may resemble either static holiday caravans or chalets.

Permanent / Residential Site

Authorised site intended for long-stay use by residents. No maximum length of stay is set unless planning permission is on a temporary basis.

Pitch

Area of a Gypsy / Traveller site where a single household live in their caravans. Pitches may vary between those large enough for one residential trailer (or mobile home) and one touring (small) trailer to those spacious enough to hold one or two large mobile homes and several 'tourers' as well as working vehicles. On public (socially provided) sites rented pitches tend to be smaller and are easily delineated by fencing. On private family sites where several related households may own the site it may be less easy to identify separate pitches / plots.

As pitch sizes vary considerably between public (socially provided) and private sites, pitch requirements are described in terms of one pitch per **household** rather than specifying how many caravans / mobile homes should be accommodated on a pitch. Accordingly, a large household with a number of children may require more than one pitch if living on a public (or private rented) site with limited pitch size.

Plot

Used with reference to Travelling Showpeople sites. A piece of ground large enough to accommodate a single accommodation unit, and may include space for the storage and maintenance of equipment. A group of plots may be referred to as a yard.

Registered Social Landlords (RSL)

Independent not-for-profit bodies that provide low cost accommodation for people in need. Can bid for funding to establish and run Gypsy and Traveller sites.

Site

An area of land laid out and used for Gypsy and Traveller caravans. Sites vary in type and size and can range from one-caravan private family sites on Gypsy and Traveller's own land to large scale private and local authority sites.

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)

Sets out how members of the community can get involved in the preparation of the Local Development Framework.

Sustainability Appraisal

The process of appraising the social, economic and environmental effects of plans, strategies and policies.

Tolerated Site

An **unauthorised development** or **encampment** may be 'tolerated' for a period of time during which no enforcement action is taken.

Trailer

Gypsies and Travellers generally use the term 'trailer' for caravans.

Transit Site

Authorised site intended for short-term use by those in transit to other areas. The site is permanent but people who stay on it may only do so for a temporary period (normally for up to three months). Normally these sites have fewer facilities than permanent/residential sites.

(New) Traveller

Term used here to refer to people who have adopted a nomadic or semi-nomadic lifestyle living in moveable dwellings who are not ethnic Gypsies or Travellers. The neutral term 'Traveller' is preferred.

Travelling Showpeople

Members of a group organised for the purposes of holding fairs, circuses or shows (whether or not travelling together as such). Most Travelling Showpeople are members of the Showmen's Guild of Great Britain.

Unauthorised Development

A Gypsy and Traveller site established on Gypsy- and Traveller-owned land without appropriate planning permission or site licence.

Unauthorised Encampment

A piece of land where Gypsies and Travellers reside without planning permission. The land is not in the ownership of those involved in the encampment.

World Heritage Site

A cultural or natural site of outstanding value inscribed on the UNESCO (United National Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation) List. The City of Bath was inscribed on the List in 1987.

Yard

Term used for a **pitch** or **site** occupied by Travelling Showpeople. Gypsies and Travellers may also use the term for a small **site** or a house with land which can accommodate trailers.

APPENDIX 1

Appendix B

Draft Site Selection Scoring Matrix

CRITERIA		SCORE	COMMENT
Site location	Within existing settlement boundary	+2	Sites not adjacent to a settlement boundary may still be considered
	Within 500m of existing settlement boundary	+1	suitable if in close proximity to key local services and facilities.
	Not within 500m of existing settlement boundary	0	
Proximity of site	Within 500m	+3	This will ensure sites are in close
to a food shop via a safe walking	Within 1,000m	+2	proximity to key local services (in accordance with Circular 01/2006).
route	Within 1,500m	+1	
	More than 1,500m	0	
Proximity of site	Within 500m	+3	
to a primary school via a safe	Within 1,000m	+2	
walking route	Within 1,500m	+1	
	More than 1,500m	0	
Proximity of site	Within 500m	+3	
to a doctor's surgery via a safe	Within 1,000m	+2	
walking route	Within 1,500m	+1	
	More than 1,500m	0	
Proximity of site	Within 500m	+3	Reducing reliance on car travel is an
to a public transport node	Within 1,000m	+2	important objective of local and national policy.
via a safe walking	Within 1,500m	+1	A public transport node can be a bus
route	More than 1,500m	0	stop, train station or community share service.
Site screening	Site is screened or has the ability to be screened	+1	Appropriate screening where necessary should be through landscaping or the
	Site is visually exposed with no possibility of screening	0	planting of trees and shrubs.
Within Green	Yes	0	Sites outside the Green Belt are
Belt?	No	+10	prioritised.
On land covered by a national or local landscape or wildlife designation?	National	-10	Sites covered by national or local level
	Local	-5	designations should only be considered where they do not compromise the
	No designation	0	objectives of the designation.
On land affecting	Yes	-	To be subject to a Habitats Regulation
European protected species?	No	-	Assessment to assess full impact after scoring matrix is applied.

			-
Flood risk	Flood Zone 1 (low) Flood Zone 2 (medium)	0 -5	Sites in Flood Zone 1 are prioritised above Zones 2 and 3. Sites in Flood Zone 3 will not be permitted.
	Flood Zone 3 (high)	-10	
On contaminated	No history	+5	Sites should not be located on
land?	Low	0	significantly contaminated land.
	Medium	-5	
	High	-10	
Near to a	Yes (within 1000m)	0	Hazardous sites include heavy industry,
hazardous place?	No (more than 1000m away)	+5	refuse sites and electricity pylons.
On brownfield	Yes	+5	Brownfield site locations are prioritised.
land?	No	0	
Safe vehicular	Yes	+5	Unsafe or inadequate vehicular access
access from the public highway?	No	0	are less desirable.
Adequate space	Yes	+1	Sites with inadequate space for the
on-site for the parking, turning and servicing of vehicles?	No	0	parking, turning and servicing of vehicles are less desirable.
Existing road	Yes	+1	Sites should not be rejected if they would
network can accommodate additional traffic movements?	No	0	only give rise to modest additional daily vehicle movements and/or the impact on minor roads would not be significant.
Potential noise	Yes	-5	Noise issues affecting proposed or
issues?	No	0	neighbouring residents are a health issue that may require mitigation.
L		1	

Note: This scoring system is for comparative purposes and will not be decisive in selecting preferred sites. Each site will be weighed in the planning balance; the matrix is a method of applying a consistent and objective methodology to site selection suitable for Bath and North East Somerset. Its application will be via a comparison chart which will be made publicly available during consultation at the Options stage. The results of this scoring system will be used to rank potential sites which will then be subject to further assessment. This includes producing a Habitats Regulation Assessment where sites are found to significantly impact upon European protected species or habitats.

This page is intentionally left blank

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING: PLANNING, TRANSPORT AND ENVIRONMENT POLICY DEVELOPMENT & SCRUTINY PANEL

MEETING 8th November 2011

DATE:

TITLE: WORKPLAN FOR 2011/12

WARD: All

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:

Appendix 1 – Panel Workplan

1 THE ISSUE

- 1.1 This report presents the latest workplan for the Panel (Appendix 1).
- 1.2 The Panel is required to set out its thoughts/plans for their future workload, in order to feed into cross-Panel discussions between Chairs and Vice-chairs to ensure there is no duplication, and to share resources appropriately where required.

2 **RECOMMENDATION**

- 2.1 The Panel is recommended to
 - (a) consider the range of items that could be part of their Workplan for 2011/12 and into 2012/13

3 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

3.1 All workplan items, including issues identified for in-depth reviews and investigations, will be managed within the budget and resources available to the Panel (including the designated Policy Development and Scrutiny Team and Panel budgets, as well as resources provided by Cabinet Members/Directorates).

4 THE REPORT

- 4.1 The purpose of the workplan is to ensure that the Panel's work is properly focused on its agreed key areas, within the Panel's remit. It enables planning over the short-to-medium term (ie: 12 – 24 months) so there is appropriate and timely involvement of the Panel in:
 - a) Holding the executive (Cabinet) to account
 - b) Policy review
 - c) Policy development
 - d) External scrutiny.
- 4.2 The workplan helps the Panel
 - a) prioritise the wide range of possible work activities they could engage in
 - b) retain flexibility to respond to changing circumstances, and issues arising,
 - c) ensure that Councillors and officers can plan for and access appropriate resources needed to carry out the work
 - d) engage the public and interested organisations, helping them to find out about the Panel's activities, and encouraging their suggestions and involvement.
- 4.3 The Panel should take into account all suggestions for work plan items in its discussions, and assess these for inclusion into the workplan. Councillors may find it helpful to consider the following criteria to identify items for inclusion in the workplan, or for ruling out items, during their deliberations:-
 - (1) public interest/involvement
 - (2) time (deadlines and available Panel meeting time)
 - (3) resources (Councillor, officer and financial)
 - (4) regular items/"must do" requirements (eg: statutory, budget scrutiny, etc)?
 - (5) connection to corporate priorities, or vision or values
 - (6) has the work already been done/is underway elsewhere?
 - (7) does it need to be considered at a formal Panel meeting, or by a different approach?

The key question for the Panel to ask itself is - can we "add value", or make a difference through our involvement?

- 4.4 There are a wide range of people and sources of potential work plan items that Panel members can use. The Panel can also use several different ways of working to deal with the items on the workplan. Some issues may be sufficiently substantial to require a more in-depth form of investigation.
- 4.5 Suggestions for more in-depth types of investigations, such as a project/review or a scrutiny inquiry day, may benefit from being presented to the Panel in more detail.
- 4.6 When considering the workplan on a meeting-by-meeting level, Councillors should also bear in mind the management of the meetings the issues to be addressed will partially determine the timetabling and format of the meetings, and whether, for example, any contributors or additional information is required.

5 RISK MANAGEMENT

5.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management guidance.

6 EQUALITIES

6.1 Equalities will be considered during the selection of items for the workplan, and in particular, when discussing individual agenda items at future meetings.

7 CONSULTATION

7.1 The Workplan is reviewed and updated regularly in public at each Panel meeting. Any Councillor, or other local organisation or resident, can suggest items for the Panel to consider via the Chair (both during Panel meeting debates, or outside of Panel meetings).

8 ADVICE SOUGHT

8.1 The Council's Monitoring Officer (Divisional Director – Legal and Democratic Services) and Section 151 Officer (Divisional Director - Finance) have had the opportunity to input to this report and have cleared it for publication.

Contact person	Michaela Gay, Democratic Services Officer. Tel 01225 394411
Background papers	None

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an alternative format

This page is intentionally left blank

Meeting Date	Agenda Item	Director	Report Author	Format of Item	Requested By	Notes
26 th July 2011	Bath Transport Package	GC	Peter Dawson	Report		
	Green Spaces Strategy Update	GC	Graham Evans	Report		
	Community Infrastructure Levy / Section 106	GC	Simon de Beer	Report		
	Food Waste Recycling Collections Update	GC	Carol Maclellan	Briefing		
	Cabinet Member Response to Commercial Waste Collection Single Inquiry Day	GC	Lauren Rushen	Report		
	Sustainable Growth Agenda (inc Housing)	JB	John Betty	Report		
	Cabinet Member Update			Verbal		
13 th Sept 2011						
	Bath Parking Strategy	GC	Adrian Clarke	Report	Panel on 26/7/11	
	Integrated Transport Authority	GC	Peter Dawson	Presentation		
	Subsidised Bus Services	GC	Andy Strong	Briefing		
	Draft Core Strategy	GC	David Trigwell / Simon de Beer	Report	Panel on 26/7/11	
	Emerging Provision Strategy for Public Toilets	GC	Matthew Smith / Kate Hobson	Report		
	Cabinet Member Update					

Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development & Scrutiny Panel Workplan

Meeting Date	Agenda Item	Director	Report Author	Format of Item	Requested By	Notes
8 th Nov 2011						
	Cabinet Member Update					
	Community Infrastructure Levy / Section 106 Update	GC	Simon de Beer	Verbal	Panel on 26/7/11	
	Gypsies & Travellers Plan: Issue & Options Consultation & "Call for Sites"	GC	Simon de Beer	Report		
	Local Sustainable Transport Fund	GC	Adrian Clarke	Presentation		
6 th Dec 2011						
	Article 4 Direction (Student Housing – HMO)	GC	Simon de Beer	Report		
	Neighbourhood Planning Protocol: Options for consultation	GC	Simon de Beer	Report		
	Medium Term Service and Resource Plans	GC	Glen Chipp	Report		
17 th Jan 2012						
	Cabinet Member Update					
	Service Action Plans	GC				
	Waste Strategy Review and Action Plan	GC	Carol Maclellan	Report		
	Community Infrastructure Levy / Section 106 Update	GC	Simon de Beer	Report		
	Bath Parking Strategy	GC	Adrian Clarke	Report	Panel on 13/9/11	
	London Road Congestion					28/9/11 Agenda Plg
	Climate Change				Panel on 26/7/11	

Meeting Date	Agenda Item	Director	Report Author	Format of Item	Requested By	Notes
13 th March 2012						
	Cabinet Member Update					
Future items						
	Travel Smart Cards	GC				
	Independent Transport Commission					
	Placemaking Delivery DPD	GC	Simon de Beer			
	Joint Local Transport Plan 3	GC				
	World Heritage Site – SPD Management Plan	GC	Simon de Beer			
	Introducing 20mph Speed Limits				Panel on 26/7/11	
	Commercial Waste Collection Single Inquiry Day - Update	GC	Carol Maclellan	Report	Panel on 26/7/11	

Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank